In the Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. SC05-2170

CHRISTOPHER MORRISON,

Petitioner,

v.

ELEONORA BIANCA ROOS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

O'HARA SPRADLEY, P.A.
4811 Beach Boulevard
Suite 303
Jacksonville, Florida 32207
Telephone (904) 346-3166
Facsimile (904) 346-5445
-andRUSSO APPELLATE FIRM, P.A.
6101 Southwest 76th Street
Miami, Florida 33143
Telephone (305) 666-4660
Facsimile (305) 666-4470

Counsel for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This matter comes before the Court upon certification of a question of great public importance by the First District Court of Appeals. The First District's opinion, rendered on November 2, 2005, reversed a trial court order dismissing Plaintiff/Respondent's amended complaint with prejudice. (A 1-17). Unlike the trial court, the First District believed that a cause of action was stated by Plaintiff's allegations that Defendant/Petitioner Morrison, the back seat passenger in a vehicle, should be held liable to Respondent/Plaintiff Roos, a passenger on a motorcycle who was injured when the driver of passenger Morrison's vehicle backed up and struck the motorcycle. (A 17).

The First District acknowledged that this is a case of first impression in Florida and that its ruling will create liabilities never before imposed on motor vehicle passengers thus raising important policy issues:

Eleonora Bianca Roos challenges a final order dismissing with prejudice her amended complaint for damages against Christopher

¹A conformed copy of the First District's opinion is included in the Appendix to this brief. (A 1-17). The First District's opinion is reported as *Roos v. Morrison*,

⁹¹³ So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) Ryan Incorporated Eastern v. Continental Casualty Company,

⁹¹⁰ So. 2d 298 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005)Roos v. Morrison, 913 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005).

Morrison for injuries sustained by Roos when the motorcycle upon which she was a passenger was struck by a sport utility vehicle (SUV) in which Morrison was a passenger. The issue before us is whether a vehicular passenger may be held liable to another vehicular passenger in circumstances where the potentially liable passenger was in a superior position to the driver of that passenger's vehicle to observe a potential hazard and gave affirmative advice to the driver which resulted in a collision with the other passenger's vehicle. We determine that a legal duty exists under these circumstances pursuant to the dictates of *McCain v. Florida Power Corp.*, 593 So. 2d 500 (Fla.1992), and we reverse. This, however, is a case of first impression and involves important policy issues regarding liability and insurance coverage. We, therefore, certify a question of great public importance. (A 1-2).

The question certified by the First District was worded as follows:

MAY A VEHICULAR PASSENGER BE HELD LIABLE TO ANOTHER VEHICULAR PASSENGER IN CIRCUMSTANCES WHERE THE POTENTIALLY LIABLE PASSENGER WAS IN A SUPERIOR POSITION TO THE DRIVER OF THAT PASSENGER'S VEHICLE TO OBSERVE A POTENTIAL HAZARD AND GAVE AFFIRMATIVE ADVICE TO THE DRIVER WHICH RESULTED IN A COLLISION WITH THE OTHER PASSENGER'S VEHICLE?

 $(A 17).^2$

Because the case was decided in the trial court on a motion to dismiss, the universe of facts in the case appears in the Plaintiff's operative complaint, which alleged, in pertinent portion:

2. On or about July 4, 2002, at approximately 1:35 a.m., plaintiff was a passenger on a motorcycle operated by Murat Demir on Third Avenue North near its intersection with Second Street in Jacksonville Beach, Duval County, Florida.

² As set forth below, Petitioner disagrees with the wording of the question.

- 3. Mr. Demir stopped his motorcycle a safe distance behind a Chevrolet Tahoe sport utility vehicle which was being driven by Barret Charles Eubanks.
- 4. Mr. Eubanks was stopped because of traffic which was blocked ahead of him.
- 5. Defendant, Christopher Morrison, was a rear seat passenger in the vehicle driven by Barret Eubanks.
- 6. After waiting for a while for traffic to clear, Mr. Eubanks requested that Defendant Morrison turn around in his seat and see if the roadway behind Mr. Eubanks' vehicle was clear so that he could back up his vehicle.
- 7. Alternatively, without being requested to, Defendant Morrison realized Mr. Eubanks was having difficulty seeing if anything was behind him so Defendant Morrison gratuitously turned around in his seat to see if the roadway behind Mr. Eubanks' vehicle was clear so that he could back up.
- 8. Defendant Morrison was in a superior position than was Mr. Eubanks to see what was behind Mr. Eubanks' vehicle.
- 9. Both Barret Charles Eubanks and Defendant Morrison believed that Defendant Morrison was in a much better position to see if Mr. Eubanks could safely back up than Mr. Eubanks was.
- 10. Mr. Eubanks could not see whether his intended path of travel behind him was clear but Defendant Morrison, if he exercised reasonable care, could see that Mr. Eubanks' intended path of travel was clear.
- 11. At that moment, Defendant Morrison failed to exercise reasonable care in determining whether Mr. Eubanks' intended path of

travel was clear. Defendant Morrison told Mr. Eubanks that it was clear for him to back up when it was not.

- 12. This action of Defendant Morrison was gratuitously taken for the benefit of Mr. Eubanks and thus should have been performed in accordance with the duty to exercise reasonable care.
- 13. Relying on Defendant Morrison's representation that it was safe for him to back up, Mr. Eubanks placed his vehicle in reverse and backed up.
- 14. As a result of Defendant Morrison's negligence as alleged above, Mr. Eubanks' vehicle struck the motorcycle upon which Plaintiff was a passenger, knocking her to the ground and injuring her.

(A 2-3).

These allegations resulted in the First District's November 2, 2005 decision concluding that there was a duty on the part of passenger Morrison to passenger Roos such that the trial court's order of dismissal with prejudice should be reversed, subject to this Court's assessment of the wisdom of creating this whole new area of liabilities heretofore unknown in the law. (A1-17). Petitioner Morrison timely filed his notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court on November 28, 2005 and this Court accepted jurisdiction by order dated December 19, 2005.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District's opinion creates an entirely new - and, Petitioner respectfully submits, dangerously ill-defined - duty concept under which passengers may be held liable for injuries caused to third parties by a driver's error in operating his vehicle. The general facts used by the First District as the basis for its imposition of liability are passengers' providing of observational comments to a driver as to conditions outside the vehicle. The First District based its holding - inappropriately, we submit - on the very limited circumstances under this Court's decision in

Decisions as to whether a complaint is legally sufficient to state a cause of action are reviewed *de novo*. See, e.g., Siegle v. Progressive Consumers Ins. Co., 819 So. 2d 732 (Fla. 2002).

ARGUMENT

A. The driver alone has the duty of care in the control and operation of a vehicle

In Bellere v. Madsen, 114 So. 2d 619, 621 (Fla. 1959), this Court explained that the driver of a vehicle at all times has the duty as to its safe operation:

[T]he driver of an automobile--a 'dangerous instrumentality'--is charged with the responsibility of having his vehicle under control at all times, commensurate with the circumstances and the locale, and to maintain a sharp and attentive lookout in order to keep himself

prepared to meet the exigencies of an emergency within reason and consistent with reasonable care and caution.

See also Wallace v. National Fisheries, Inc., 768 So. 2d 17, 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000)(a driver has a duty to drive carefully and avoid hitting other drivers); Jackson v. Reardon, 392 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981)(as a matter of law, the operator of a motor vehicle has duty to use reasonable care to prevent injury to persons and property within vehicle's path).

As this Court stated in *Miami Paper Co. v. Johnston*, 58 So. 2d 869, 871 (Fla.1952), whether backing up, or moving forward, a person "manipulating a motor vehicle on the highway" must always use due care:

The general rule supported by a wealth of authority is that one manipulating a motor vehicle on the highway, whether backing, starting or proceeding ahead, must exercise reasonable care, circumstances being the guide as to what constitutes reasonable care. See also Winner v. Sharp, 43 So. 2d 634 (Fla.1949); Bilams v. Metropolitan Transit Authority, 371 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); Coast Cities Coaches v. Donat, 106 So. 2d 593 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958); Budgen v. Brady, 103 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 1st DCA 1958), cert. denied, 105 So. 2d 793 (Fla.1958).

The law has specific rules a *driver* must follow with respect to the act alleged here, backing up on a highway. Section 316.1985(1), Fla. Stat., entitled "Limitations on backing", provides:

The driver of a vehicle shall not back the same unless such movement can be made with safety and without interfering with other traffic.

An earlier version of this statute was construed in *Walker v. Grant*, 314 F. Supp. 442, 443 (S.D. Fla. 1970), a case in which a driver backed into traffic under circumstances where his vision was impaired by the configuration of the road, and he struck a motorcycle. The court explained that, under Florida law, a backing driver has the duty to exercise every means at hand to protect others who may be in his vehicle's path, and noted that special hazards to vision serve only to *enhance* the duty:

The duty of a backing driver on a State Road (as this was) is delineated by Florida Statutes, 1967, § 317.731, F.S.A. It required that such operation must not be done unless it can be made 'with safety and without interfering with other traffic.' In amplification, this driver must exercise every 'means at his hand to protect life and property of others that may be in his path.' Green v. Atlantic Co., (Fla.1952), 61 So.2d 185, 186. In fine, it is that operator's duty to apprise the approaching vehicle of the contemplated entry and to see, and to yield to, any vehicle so near as to constitute a hazard as the backing automobile moves into the traveled way. Special hazards to vision only enhance that duty.

Similarly, in Green v. Atlantic Co., 61 So. 2d 185, 186 (Fla. 1952), this Court also described the legal duty of a backing driver as follows:

The law is settled that <u>one may back his automobile over the</u> <u>highways</u> and public places without being guilty of negligence but

the driver is required to sound his horn, use his rear view mirror and exercise every other means at his hand to protect the life and property of others who may be in his path. When there is reason to do so he should continue to look backward and sound his horn in order that others on the grounds may be warned of his approach.

B. The only duty imposed on passengers is that of using due care for *their own self-protection* unless the passenger has *control* over the driver

In Conner v. Southland Corporation, 240 So. 2d 822, 825 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970) the situations giving rise to passenger liability were described as being strictly limited to instances where a passenger exercises *control and authority* over the operation of the vehicle, or (germane in the comparative/contributory negligence context) *fails to take reasonable actions for his own self-protection*:

[T]he general rule in Florida is that the negligence of a driver of a motor vehicle is not imputable to his passenger. However, there are three exceptions therein noted, such as, (W)hen the passenger has authority or control over the driver or the vehicle, (1) by imposing his will on the driver to see that the vehicle is properly driven, (2) where such authority or control exists by virtue of the relationship of agency or Joint Enterprise between the driver and passenger³, or (3) where the passenger knows or should know that the driver is not exercising that degree of care essential to the passenger's safety so that the law imposes a duty upon the passenger to warn, protest, or take other action, and the passenger fails in this duty even though he

³ There is no allegation here, nor any suggestion by the First District, that the passenger had any "authority or control" over the vehicle or driver, or that the driver and passenger were engaged in a "joint" enterprise." The inapplicability of the "joint enterprise" theory is discussed further below.

has sufficient time to protest and realizes **that he should intervene for his own safety**.

Thus, a passenger or guest riding in an automobile is generally entitled to "trust the vigilance and skill" of the driver. Knudsen v. Hanlan, 36 So. 2d 192, 194 (1948); Florida E. Coast Ry. Co. v. Keilen, 183 So. 2d 547, 549 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966). Conversely, it is settled that "[a]s a general rule, the negligence of the driver of an automobile **is not imputed to a passenger who has no authority or control over the car or the driver**." Bessett v. Hackett, 66 So. 2d 694, 698 (Fla.1953); Sisam v. Brantley, 366 So. 2d 1195, 1196 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979).

In *Bessett v. Hackett*, this Court detailed the limited circumstances under which the passenger himself may have a duty to act for his own protection, or risk being comparatively negligent with regard to his own injury:

An exception to the general rule that a guest riding in an automobile is entitled to trust the vigilance and skill of the driver arises where the passenger knows, or by the exercise of ordinary and reasonable care should know, from the circumstances of the occasion, that the driver is not exercising that degree of care in the operation of the vehicle compatible with the safety of his passenger. In such case it becomes the duty of the guest to make

some reasonable attempt through suggestion, warning, protest or other means suitable to the occasion, to control the conduct of the driver.

66 So. 2d at 698. The *Knudsen v. Hanlan*, 36 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 1948); *Keilen v. Florida East Coast Railway Co.*, 183 So. 2d 547 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966).

The First District's opinion recognized that "[t]he amended complaint contains insufficient allegations to bring it within the 'duty to warn' exception to the general passenger passivity rule." (A 7). The so-called 'duty to warn' exception arises in the comparative negligence context in which the passenger himself has been injured and seeks recovery, a scenario not present in this case. This exception to passenger non-liability recognizes that the passenger has a responsibility to mitigate his own damages: it does not extend to creating a responsibility on the part of a passenger to others outside the vehicle. The "zone of risk" to those outside the vehicle is created only by the actions of the driver in his manner of operating the vehicle.

As discussed next, courts in other jurisdictions have similar rules, i.e., that a passenger is entitled to leave the operation of the vehicle to the driver whose negligence, if any, is *not* imputed to the passenger *who does not control the vehicle*. These courts also hold that a duty on the part of a passenger arises only in

situations where necessary *for the passenger's own safety, not* for the protection of third parties within the zone of risk created by the driver.

In *Dennison v. Klotz*, 532 A.2d 1311, 1315-1316 (Conn. App. Ct. 1987), the court collected a number of the authorities espousing these rules as to passengers:

These cases, however, involve only the duty of a passenger in an automobile to exercise reasonable care for [his or] her own safety. The general rule with respect to a passenger's duty to exercise care or perform some act for the protection of third parties is otherwise: [A]n occupant of a motor vehicle other than the driver is not liable for injury to a third person due to the negligence of the driver, in the absence of evidence that the occupant had some control over the driver, or that the driver was in the occupant's employ, or that the driver and the occupant were engaged in a joint enterprise. [citation omitted]. The distinction between a failure to act which will constitute a passenger's contributory or comparative negligence, and a passenger's similar failure to act which will not create liability to a third party, is supported by the case law of other jurisdictions; see, e.g., Martinson v. Cagle, 454 So. 2d 1383, 1386 (Ala.1984); Coffman v. Kennedy, 74 Cal.App. 3d 28, 32-33, 141 Cal.Rptr. 267 (1977); Martino v. Leiva, 133 Ill.App. 3d 1006, 1008, 88 Ill.Dec. 935, 479 N.E.2d 955 (1985); Fugate v. Galvin, 84 Ill.App.3d 573, 40 Ill.Dec. 318, 406 N.E.2d 19 (1980); Clark v. Mincks, 364 N.W.2d 226, 231-32 (Iowa 1985); Akins v. Hamblin, 237 Kan. 742, 703 P.2d 771 (1985); Anthony v. Kiefner, 96 Kan. 194, 150 P. 524 (1915); Danos v. St. Pierre, 383 So.2d 1019, 1021-22 (La.App.1980), aff'd, 402 So.2d 633 (La.1981); Sloan v. Flack, 150 So.2d 646 (La.App.1963); Olson v. Ische, 343 N.W.2d 284, 287-88 (Minn.1984); Moya v. Warren, 88 N.M. 565, 544 P.2d 280 (1975); Cecil v. Hardin, 575 S.W.2d 268, 270 (Tenn.1978); *Hale v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 639 P.2d 203, 205 (Utah 1981); Price v. Halstead, 355 S.E.2d 380, 385-86 (W.Va.1987); Reiter v. Grober, 173 Wis. 493, 494-95, 181 N.W. 739 (1921); Winslow v. Brown, 125 Wis.2d 327, 371 N.W.2d 417 (Wis.App.1985).

In Mountain West Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company v. Hunt; 82 F. Supp. 2d 1261 (D. Wyo. 2000), the court stated in a discussion of cases involving passengers of intoxicated drivers:

Most courts hold that, absent ownership or other legal control over the vehicle or a special relationship with the driver, a passenger in a vehicle operated by an intoxicated driver owes no legal duty to third parties to control, stop or prevent the driver from operating the vehicle, even if he is aware that the driver is intoxicated. Numerous examples are available to demonstrate this principle. The Kansas Supreme Court stated in *McGlothlin v. Wiles*, 207 Kan. 718, Syl. ¶ 1, 487 P.2d 533 (1971)*Hunt* Court further noted that

the clear weight of authority establishes that a passenger does not have a duty to

third persons injured by the negligence of a driver:

Other courts are in accord. *See*, *e.g.*, Lombardo v. Hoag, 269 N.J.Super. 36, 634 A.2d 550, 559 (1993)("the negligence of the operator of an automobile is not chargeable to a passenger who has no control over the car"); *Olson v. Ische*, 343 N.W.2d 284 (Minn.1984)("passenger has no duty to members of the public to control the operation of a motor vehicle by its intoxicated owner, where, ... there is no special relationship between the driver-owner and the passenger"); *Stock v. Fife*,

13 Mass.App.Ct. 75, 430 N.E.2d 845 (1982)*Welc v. Porter*, 450 Pa.Super. 112, 675 A.2d 334 (1996)*Lego v. Schmidt*,

805 P.2d 1119 (Colo. App. 1991)*Olson v. Ische*, 343 N.W.2d 284 (Minn.1984), and even an amenable driver may spontaneously react in abrupt and unexpected ways. Any attempt on the part of a passenger to direct the driver or to take over control of the brake or wheel could well become negligence itself, and the passenger is trapped into an instantaneous Hobson's choice between action and inaction. In addition, we find it inappropriate to impose on a passenger a duty that would effectively make him an insurer of third persons against the

negligence of the driver. Instead of being invested with the liabilities of a guest, he would shoulder those of a master.

In sum, the general law in Florida and elsewhere is clear. Drivers alone are charged with the duty of operating vehicles safely so as not to injure third parties. The only duty of care assigned to passengers in connection with their driver's operation of a vehicle is to use due care *for their own safety*. Passengers have no duty to those outside the vehicle. Under established Florida law, therefore, the trial court was quite correct in its dismissal with prejudice of the amended complaint in this matter.

C. The First District's decision

The First District, however, did not feel constrained by established Florida law. Despite the authorities discussed above, the First District decided to hold that there *was* a legal duty owed by passenger Morrison to passenger Roos. The First District based its decision on the allegation that Morrison undertook b provide advice to his driver in connection with the driver's consideration of a backing up maneuver. The First District cited *Barfield v. Langley*, 432 So. 2d 748, 749 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983) for the following proposition:

It is axiomatic that an action undertaken for the benefit of another, even gratuitously, must be performed in accordance with an obligation to exercise reasonable care.

There is no action that was taken by the passenger here, however, for the benefit of other vehicles or their occupants, and no allegation of any such action. The First District incorrectly drew an analogy between this *passenger* providing advice to the driver of his own car to be used along with whatever other information and observations the driver might use in determining when and how to move the vehicle and cases dealing with the liability of *drivers* for accidents occurring when they signal other drivers to turn left in front of them. Specifically, the First District cited Kerfoot v. Waychoff, 501 So. 2d 588 (Fla. 1987), WED Transportation Systems, Inc. v. Beauchamp, 616 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), and Tellechea v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co. of Miami, Inc., 530 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988) as collectively standing for the proposition that the liability of drivers who signal other drivers to proceed is to be decided on a case by case basis, and will depend on the particular facts. The First District quoted the following statement made by this Court in *Kerfoot*:

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