In the Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. SC05-2170

CHRISTOPHER MORRISON,

Petitioner,

v.

ELEONORA BIANCA ROOS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Respectfully submitted,

THOMAS E. DUFFY, JR. TERRELL HOGAN 233 East Bay Street, 8th Floor Jacksonville, FL 32202 Telephone (904) 632-2424 Facsimile (904) 632-2027

Counsel for Respondent

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement Of The Case And Facts in Petitioner's Initial Brief On The Merits except Petitioner's assertion that the First District recognized that its opinion "...will create liabilities never before imposed on motor vehicle passengers..." The First District properly applied three principles of common law to an extremely unique set of facts which was a case of first impression. Their certification of their ruling as a question of great public importance was because of their concern that Morrison and future defendants found liable under these unique facts may not have insurance to pay any judgment. Their concern was not that they were creating new law.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The amended complaint states a negligence cause of action against Christopher Morrison. Christopher Morrison initially had no duty to see if his driver's path of travel behind him was clear. Once he agreed or volunteered to do so however, he then had a legal duty to exercise reasonable care in executing this task. Christopher Morrison's superior position to that of the driver to see what was behind the SUV, establishes the proximate cause needed to make his negligence a liability. His superior position to see the path of travel of the vehicle was known by him and the driver. It is this unique fact which establishes a cause of action against this passenger and limits this legal ruling to an extremely few driving situations.

Christopher Morrison is not immune from this duty simply by being a passenger in a vehicle. The amended complaint adequately alleges Christopher Morrison's breach of this duty and Eleonora Bianca Roos's injuries and damages related to that negligence.

ARGUMENT

The Amended Complaint States A Cause Of Action For Negligence Against Christopher Morrison

The issue presented to both the trial court and to the First District Court of Appeal was whether Respondent's amended complaint stated a valid cause of action against Morrison. Whether the amended complaint should be dismissed for failing to state a valid cause of action is a question of law. City of Gainesville v. State Department of Transportation, 778 So. 2d 519, 522 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). While the circuit court's Order Granting Motion To Dismiss Amended Complaint and the Final Order Of Dismissal are not specific as to their grounds, it can reasonably be assumed that the circuit court determined that no legal duty was imposed on Christopher Morrison on the facts alleged. The existence, vel non, of a duty is a question of law and is appropriate for appellate review. Gracey v. Eaker 837 So. 2d 348 (Fla. 2002). The standard of review as to whether a complaint states a valid cause of action is de novo. City of Gainesville v. State Department of Transportation, 778 So. 2d 519, 522 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). In determining this, the trial court and all appellate reviewing courts are obligated to treat all allegations in the amended complaint as true and look no further than the

four corners of the amended complaint. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Singer v. Florida Paving</u> Company, Inc., 459 So. 2d 1146 (Fla. 3d 1984).

The First District Court of Appeals' lengthy, analytical and well reasoned opinion concludes that the allegations of the amended complaint "...were more than sufficient to withstand a motion to dismiss." Roos v. Morrison, 913 So. 2d 59, 64 (Fla. lst DCA 2005). The lower court also recognized that this valid cause of action "...will not 'open the floodgates' to all passengers facing potential liability for their actions immediately prior to a collision." Id.

The two very unique facts of the amended complaint which establish Morrison's duty and causation are that Morrison had a superior vantage point to see what was behind the SUV than did the driver and that he affirmatively undertook the task with its accompanying legal duty to determine if it was safe to back up the vehicle. <u>Id</u>. at 63.

Three recognized principles of Florida common law, when applied to the very unique facts of this accident as alleged in the amended complaint, imposed the duty to exercise reasonable care on Christopher Morrison. The amended complaint adequately alleges his breach of this duty and its proximate cause of Eleonora Bianca Roos's injuries and damages.

First, "... (i)t is axiomatic that an action undertaken for the benefit of another, even gratuitously, must be performed in accordance with an obligation to exercise reasonable care." <u>Barfield v. Langley</u>, 432 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). In <u>Barfield</u>, the court held that while Charlotte Langley had no duty to take care of Jason Barfield, who was a neighbor's child, once she agreed to do so, "... she had a duty as a matter of law to exercise a reasonable degree of care in protecting him from reasonably foreseeable harm." <u>Id</u>. at 749.

Secondly, passengers of vehicles are not immune from liability for all actions they take while riding in a vehicle driven by another. Loftin v. Bryan, 63 So. 2d 310 (Fla. 1953). Generally, a passenger is entitled to trust the vigilance and skill of the driver and the driver's negligence is not imputed to the passenger. Florida East Coast Railway Company v. Keilen, 183 So. 2d 547 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966). Florida appellate courts have recognized factual situations where a passenger has a duty of reasonable care. For example, a passenger has the duty to make a reasonable attempt to rectify the driving of one he knows or should know is not exercising reasonable care compatible with and essential for the passenger's safety and where there is sufficient time and opportunity to give warning or protest before an accident. Id. at 550.

Thirdly, <u>Kerfoot v. Waychoff</u>, 501 So. 2d 588 (Fla. 1987) establishes that under certain circumstances, one who indicates to a driver that the driver can proceed safely can be held liable for an ensuing accident. <u>Id</u>. at 589. In <u>Kerfoot</u>, this court stated that the relevant factors for whether liability will attach to the person who directs another driver to proceed are that person's superior position when compared to the driver to see whether the driver's path of travel is clear and whether the driver was reasonable in his interpretation of what the hand motion or signal meant. <u>Id</u>. at 589.

In <u>Kerfoot</u>, this Court was asked to answer the following certified question of great public importance: "Does an automobile driver who, by signals, relinquishes his right of way to another vehicle, owe any duty to reasonably ascertain whether traffic lanes, other than his own, will safely accommodate the other vehicle?" The Supreme Court agreed with the Fourth District Court of Appeal and answered the question in the negative. By doing so, it held that there was no affirmative duty on drivers who yield to other drivers to determine whether adjacent traffic lanes will allow safe passage. The court, however, limited its decision to the specific facts in <u>Kerfoot</u>.

Those specific facts of <u>Kerfoot</u> were that, the driver who waved to the other driver to pass in front of him could not have seen whether the traffic

lane adjacent to his own would safely allow the other driver to cross it and complete his left hand turn. The court stated that the <u>signaler's ability to</u> foresee potential danger is a factor giving meaning to a signal. Id. at 590.

Two subsequent district court of appeal cases interpret and apply Kerfoot to other factual situations are enlightening. In Tellechea v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co. of Miami, Inc., 530 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), a summary judgment rendered in defendant's favor was reversed because two disputed material facts precluded such summary judgment. One such disputed material fact was the apparent meaning and appropriate interpretation of the signal. The second disputed material fact was whether the signaler was in a position to determine if the adjacent lane was clear of motor vehicles. The Third District Court of Appeal held that if the meaning and interpretation of the other's signal was that the right lane was clear and the signaler could determine that from his vantage point, because he was seated high in a truck and had a right side view mirror, then the signaler could be held to be actionably negligent. Id. at 1084.

The First District Court of Appeal in <u>WED Transportation Systems</u>, <u>Inc. v. Beauchamp</u>, 616 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), in upholding a jury verdict against the signaling driver, pointed out that ". . . the most prevalent factor in the court's determination of no liability in Kerfoot was that the

signaling driver, Severson, was in an almost impossible position to determine if the adjacent lane was clear of motor vehicles." <u>Id</u>. at 589. The facts in <u>WED Transportation Systems</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, raised jury questions on a bus driver's ability to ascertain potential danger when he signaled for an automobile to make a left turn in front of him.

Kerfoot, Tellechea and WED Transportation focus in part, as they clearly should have, on the interpretation of a wave from a driver in the immediate opposing lane of traffic. Does that hand signal only mean, "You can pull in front of me" or does it mean, "It's okay for you to turn in front of me and continue through the lane next to me because I can see that there is no traffic coming and you cannot." In Roos's amended complaint clear, affirmative and non-ambiguous words spoken by Christopher Morrison indicated to his driver that it was safe for him to back up. Consequently, no issue concerning the interpretation of his "signal" could be raised even on a motion for summary judgment.

Additionally, <u>Kerfoot</u>, <u>Tellechea</u> or <u>WED Transportation</u> do not limit those who could be liable for warning or signaling drivers to proceed only to drivers of other vehicles. Utilizing the legal rationale of <u>WED</u> <u>Transportation</u>, if the signaler was a passenger in the other vehicle instead of

its driver, and all other facts were the same, a legal duty of reasonable care in directing the driver would be imposed on that passenger.

Petitioner at both the circuit court and the appellate court level contended that Halenda v. Habitat For Humanity International, Inc., 125 F. Supp. 2d 1361 (S.D. Fla. 2000) was precisely on point with the amended complaint and supported its position that a passenger has no duty of reasonable care when telling his driver about traffic or other roadway conditions. Under the specific facts in Halenda, that passenger had no duty because she was in no better position than the driver to see the vehicle's intended path of travel. In Halenda, the at-fault vehicle was driven by Jack Walters. His wife, Lois, was seated to his right in the front passenger seat. They attempt to pass a tractor-trailer on a two-lane road. When they are out in the opposing travel lane "... both he and Lois looked down the road and noted that the westbound lane was clear and at that point Lois said, 'It was clear.' " Id. at 1364. Mr. Walters then tried to pass the tractor-trailer but quickly realized there was a car in front of it and that the Halenda vehicle was coming in the other direction. Since there was no room to squeeze between the tractor-trailer and the small car, he accelerated trying to pass the small car. At that point, the trailer he was towing with his Suburban fish-tailed, disengaged and struck the Halenda vehicle.

Without referring to <u>Kerfoot</u> and its progeny, the Southern District Court of Appeals correctly held that under these facts the passenger had no duty of reasonable care because she was not in a superior position to the driver to see the intended path of travel.

Jagneaux vs. Louisiana Farm Bureau Casualty Ins. Co., 771 So. 2d 109 (La. App. 3 Cir. 2000), is an out-of-state case whose facts are on point to those alleged in the amended complaint. In Jagneaux, a summary judgment in favor of a passenger on a negligence claim was reversed. In this case, a teenager was driving an enclosed cab tractor with a friend of his sitting on the arm rest. Mud had covered up each of the side windows. When they got to a stop sign, the driver's view of the intersecting traffic was obstructed. The driver asked his passenger to check for traffic. The passenger opened the door, stepped out of the cab onto the tractor's diesel tank to get a better view of the road. He then signaled to the driver that it was clear to move forward. There was some dispute as to exactly what the passenger did and said and what the driver heard and said. It was clear, however, that the driver relied on the passenger's statement to pull forward, which caused the accident. The Louisiana appellate court made clear what limited precedent its reversal would have when it stated ". . . . (i)n granting summary judgment, the trial court expressed concern that every guest passenger in an accident would face liability if this case were allowed to proceed." Id. at 112. The court went on to state that the passenger acted beyond the role of a guest passenger when he agreed to check for traffic which the driver could not see. Id. at 112. In doing so, the passenger assumed a legal duty to exercise reasonable care in checking for traffic. Id. at 112.

Consequently, on facts extremely similar to the amended complaint, this Louisiana appellate court held that a valid negligence cause of action by a third party against a passenger exists when the following facts exist: (1) the passenger is in a position to see the intended path of travel of the vehicle when the driver's view is obstructed; (2) the passenger represents to the driver that his intended path of travel is clear; (3) the driver relies on the passenger's representation knowing that the passenger is in a superior position than he is to see the intended path of travel; and (4) the driver moves his vehicle, the path of travel is not clear and a collision occurs.

Two other out-of-state cases, while similar had one distinguishable fact which precluded the passenger from being similarly held liable. In Moya v. Warren, 88 N.M. 565, 544 P. 2d 280 (New Mexico 1975), a front passenger was helping his driver to determine when their path of travel was clear to complete a Uturn. After the passenger said, "It is clear, you can

go," the driver pulled out and an accident happened. A directed verdict in favor of the passenger was upheld because, like in <u>Halenda</u>, the passenger was in no better position than the driver to see the intended path of travel.

Gandy v. Terminal R.R. Ass'n of St. Louis, 623 S.W. 2d 49 (Mo. App. 1981), affirmed a directed verdict in favor of a passenger whose driver was backing a tractor-trailer across two sets of railroad tracks at a freight yard. Before doing so, the driver told the passenger, ". . . (w)ell, watch in case that train decides to start up down there and I will watch the left, the front, and my rearview mirrors." Id. at 50. The passenger, however, said nothing in response. The driver began backing up after he determined it was safe to proceed. The driver could not see to the south where a train had been stopped. Once on the second set of tracks, that train struck the trailer which caused injury to the driver. The passenger did not warn the driver of the oncoming train.

In upholding the directed verdict in defendant's favor, the court held that there was no evidence that the passenger agreed to the driver's request to watch the train to the south nor was there any evidence that the passenger actually attempted to keep a lookout. <u>Id</u>. at 52. The court stated that "(a)ppellant's request for assistance did not raise a duty in Jones (the passenger) to help." <u>Id</u>. at 52. <u>Gandy</u> is clearly distinguished from the facts

of the amended complaint which allege that Christopher Morrison either began looking to the rear on his driver's request for help or gratuitously began doing so after realizing his driver could not see behind him.

Respondent, at the circuit and appellate court levels, presented an analogous fact pattern where liability would clearly be placed on the defendant. Petitioner has yet to address this analogy.

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